Case # 78,358

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR RE: ADVISORY OPINION NONLAWYER PREPARATION OF LIVING TRUSTS

INITIAL BRIEF OF

Mid-America Living Trust Associates, Inc. National Family Trusts, and Living Trusts America

IN OPPOSITION TO THE PROPOSED ADVISORY OPINION

"HEE H. HALKER, JR., ESQ. HALKER, KELLEY & SEBBEN 8925 Folsom Blvd., Ste. M Sacramento, California 95826

Telephone: (916) 364-7400

Attorneys for Interested Parties Mid-America Living Trust Associates, Inc. National Family Trusts Living Trusts America

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner, IRA C. HATCH, on behalf of American Family Living Trust (a now defunct living trust marketing company) requested a formal Advisory Opinion as to:

"Whether it constitutes the unlicensed practice of law for a corporation or other nonlawyer to draft living trusts and related documents for another where the information to be included in the living trust is gathered by nonlawyer agents of the corporation, or by the nonlawyer and the completed documents are reviewed by a member of the Florida Bar prior to execution."

The Standing Committee on the Unlicensed Practice of Law (hereinafter"Committee") received similar requests from others and hearings were conducted on January 25, 1991, and April 26, 1991.

Oral and/or written testimony was submitted by twenty-eight attorneys; three customers; two trust companies; two insurance men; one paralegal; and one consumer advocate. Although billed as "public hearings," there was no indication that anyone from the public actually attended. Record, Tabs 1-10.

According to the Committee, at the hearings attorneys related numerous instances of harm which it used to justify **its** finding of "public harm." However, the Record shows that these alleged instances of harm numbered but three, and in no case was damage proved. This scant record of vague allegations of harm was, nevertheless, used to sustain the Committee's "finding" of public harm.

On August 1, 1991, the Committee issued **proposed** Advisory Opinion FAO number 91001 (hereinafter "Opinion") and invited

participation by other interested parties pursuant to Rule 10-7.1(g)(2).

The Opinion reached far beyond the scope of the question presented by requesting that the Florida Supreme Court ban all nonlawyers and nonlawyer companies from selling living trusts in Florida. Prop. Op. at 7.

Because the original question under consideration by the Committee was fairly narrow **in** scope, i.e., **it** addressed only "nonlawyers or nonlawyer corporations who <u>drafted</u> living trusts," numerous living trust companies who use lawyers to draft and review living trusts, neither filed objections nor participated at the hearings.

However, now that the scope of the Opinion encompasses all living trust companies, irrespective of the efficacy of their marketing programs, grave concern for the devastating effect the Opinion will have on commerce has resulted. Companies which either were not interested, or only mildly interested in the outcome due to the limited **scope** of the question presented to the Committee, have recently filed objections as a result of the Committee's broad advisory opinion.

Interested parties Mid-America Living Trust Associates, Inc., National Family Trusts, and Living Trusts America (hereinafter "Living Trust Companies") are three companies which market living trust estate plans using conservative marketing schemes. Their living trust plans are all drafted and reviewed by licensed attorneys, or under the direct supervision of a licensed attorney.

Adoption of the Committee's Opinion would prevent these conservative companies from selling living trusts in Florida.

The Committee's broad-brush treatment of nonlawyer involvement with living trusts has smeared a number of reputable companies with unwanted and unwarranted paint.

Although drawing the borders of the unlicensed practice of law is within the ambit of this Court (Rule 10-7.1(g)(3)), if the Court adopts the Opinion as written, the resulting image will improperly include excellent nonlawyers and nonlawyer companies who are providing needed estate planning services in accordance with their constitutionally guaranteed freedoms.

QUESTION PRESENTED

Does the marketing of living trusts by all nonlawyer companies, irrespective of how they may use attorneys in their marketing programs, constitute the unlicensed practice of law?

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Opinion seeks to ban the sale of living trusts by all nonlawyers and nonlawyer companies. The Opinion is constitutionally flawed for a number of good reasons.

First, many living trust companies do not engage in practices which constitute the practice of law. There are five steps in the creation of a living trust: 1) the gathering of the necessary information; 2) the assembly of the document; 3) review with the client; 4) execution of the document; and 5) the funding of the

trust document. The Committee's Opinion holds that all of these steps constitute the practice of law and must be performed by an attorney.

Of the above listed steps, however, only assembly and review of the trust documents requires skill beyond that possessed by the average citizen. The gathering of information, execution and funding steps can be successfully performed by trained nonlawyer living trust representatives. Those **steps** therefore do not constitute the practice of law and nonlawyers must not be prohibited from performing such services.

Second, the Opinion is not supported by the facts. There has been no adequate showing of specific public harm nor is there any evidence that nonlawyer activities in the living trust field have caused harm to the public. Nor has the Committee shown that an injunction on nonlawyer living trust companies is **the** most effective solution to protect the public from improper nonlawyer practices. In fact, a number of more effective and less restrictive alternatives are available.

A ban on the nonlawyer sale of living trusts is not in the public interest in light of the harm the public will **suffer** if such nonlawyer services are prohibited. If the Committee's Opinion is adopted, a large sector of the public will be denied access to a convenient and affordable method of estate planning.

Third, the Committee's Opinion is based on hearings and its resultant record which are constitutionally inadequate in violation of the Living Trust Companies' procedural due process rights.

Although the question presented to the Committee was limited to the issue of nonlawyer drafted living trusts, the Opinion goes far beyond that issue and would have this Court ban the sale of living trusts by all nonlawyers. The public notice was defective because it failed to apprise those who market attorney drafted trusts of the true nature and extent of the issues to be considered by the Committee.

In addition, the Record lacks sufficient evidence of public harm, plus there is no evidence that the committee investigated the issue by communicating with any of the relevant industries involved, e.g. insurance, accountants, banks or trust companies.

Fourth, the Opinion is fatally flawed because it is the product of a Committee wherein the vast majority of the voting power is held by attorneys who have a pecuniary interest in the outcome of its decisions. The ratio of voting attorney to non-attorney members in this case was 11 to 1. Statute requires five non-attorneys on a committee of at least fifteen attorneys. Integration Rule, Art. XVI, section 10-1.1(d).

Fifth, the Opinion unconstitutionally deprives Living Trust Companies of their constitutionally guaranteed right of liberty and property without due process of law. The Opinion restricts Living Trust Companies' freedom to contract and right to pursue a lawful occupation.

Sixth, the Opinion is void for vagueness because it fails to adequately define what constitutes the **"sale"** of living trusts and what activities nonlawyer living trust companies may and may not

engage in. The Opinion is void for overbreadth because it would ban the sale of living trusts by all nonlawyer companies including those companies with very conservative programs which are not involved with the unlicensed practice of law. The Opinion broadly stifles fundamental liberties of speech and association where less restrictive alternatives to promote the State's interest in protecting the public are available.

Seventh, to deny **all** nonlawyers and nonlawyer companies the right to do business in Florida violates the guarantees of the First Amendment protections of Freedom of Speech and Association.

Finally, the Committee's Opinion violates the Commerce Clause because it prohibits living trust companies from providing estate planning services in Florida. Given the existence of other methods of public protection, the ban unnecessarily and unreasonably impairs interstate commerce in violation of the Commerce Clause.

ARGUMENT

I.

NONLAWYER SALE OF LIVING TRUSTS DOES NOT CONSTITUTE THE UNLICENSED PRACTICE OF LAW.

A. <u>FLORIDA'S DEFINITION OF UNLICENSED PRACTICE OF LAW</u> <u>AND UNDERLYING POLICIES</u>

The unlicensed practice of law is defined by the Florida Integration Rule as:

"The UPL, as prohibited by statute, court rule and case law of the State of Florida." Integration Rule Art XVI section 10-1.1(b).

Although the years have produced broad tests and fact specific

case law to date, the term "unlicensed practice of law" remains undefined. In <u>State v. Sperry</u> 140 So.2d 587 (Fla. 1962), vacated on other grounds **373** U.S. **379, 83** S.Ct. **1322,** 10 L.Ed.2d 428, this Court delineated the following test:

"If the giving of such advice and performance of such services affect important rights of a person under the law, and if the reasonable protection of the rights and property of those advised and served requires that the persons giving such advice possess legal skill **and** a knowledge of the law greater than that possessed by the average citizen, then the giving of such advice and the performance of such services by one for another as a course of conduct constitute the practice of **law**." <u>Ibid</u>. at 591.

Recognizing that the <u>Sperry</u> definition may not be suitable for all instances of nonlawyer conduct, this Court later clarified that the "...definition is **broad** and is given content...only as it applies to specific circumstances of **each** case." <u>The Florida Bar</u> <u>V. Brumbaush</u> 355 So.2d 1186, 1191 (Fla. 1978).

"We agree that any attempt to formulate a lasting, all encompassing definition of 'practice of law' is doomed to failure 'for the reason that under our system of juris prudence such practice must necessarily change with the ever changing business and social order."" <u>Brumbaush</u> at 1191-1192 citing <u>State Bar of Michigan v. Cramer</u> 249 N.W.2d 1 (Mich. 1976); See also <u>The Florida Bar In re:</u> <u>Advisory Opinion-Nonlawyer Preparation of Notice to Owner</u> and Notice to Contractor 544 So.2d 1013, 1016 (Fla. 1989)

The purpose in regulating the practice of law is the protection of the public from the harm arising out of incompetent, unethical and irresponsible representation. <u>The Florida Bar V.</u> <u>Moses</u> 380 **So.2d** 412, **417** (Fla. **1980**).

Where a case involves an overlap of professional disciplines, the court must focus on the public's realistic need for protection. The Florida Bar In re: Advisory Opinion-Nonlawver Preparation of <u>Pension Plans</u> 571 So,2d 430 (Fla. 1990). In the <u>Pension Plan</u> case, the Florida Bar asked this Court to find that nonlawyer involvement in designing and preparing pension plans and advising clients constituted the UPL. This Court refused to do so, and instead stated:

"In cases involving an overlap of professional disciplines we must try to avoid arbitrary classifications and focus instead on the public's realistic need for protection and regulation, " Ibid,

Living Trust estate planning is quite similar to pension planning because it is also a highly specialized area in which several professional disciplines overlap. It is therefore necessary "to avoid arbitrary classifications and focus on the public's realistic need for protection and regulation" in this area.

B. <u>SPECIFIC BPPLICATION TO THE FIVE STEPS IN THE</u> <u>CREATION OF A LIVING TRUST</u>

In **its** Opinion, the Committee described five steps in the creation of a living trust: (1) the gathering of the necessary information; (2) the assembly of the document; (3) review with the client; (4) the document's proper execution; and (5) the funding of the trust document. Prop. Op. at 16.

The Committee asserts that each of the above five steps constitutes the practice of law.¹ This Court's prior holdings in

¹ Most importantly, in the Committee's advisory opinion in the <u>Pension Plan</u> **case**, <u>supra</u>, the Committee stated the following activities did <u>not</u> constitute the UPL: 1) promoting, <u>marketing and</u> <u>selling</u> pension plans; 2) explaining alternatives generally available to the public, such as discussing options; and 3) <u>gathering client information</u> including financial resources, objectives, costs, liabilities, and preparation and filing of

UPL cases, however, do not support the Committee's opinion as to all five steps.

(1) Gathering the Information

The mere gathering of the information necessary to create a living trust does not constitute the UPL. When dealing with reputable living trust companies, potential customers first meet with a trained nonlawyer living trust representative who explains various methods of probate and guardianship avoidance and then gathers general information from the customer. This information includes basic information regarding the customer's assets, marital status, children, previous marriages, and estate planning objectives.

After gathering the information, the representative forwards the information to a local attorney who contacts the client to verify the data and to determine the customer's needs, the type of trust best suited thereto, and what other planning documents may be required to meet the client's goals.

The actual gathering of the information does not require any more skill or knowledge than that possessed by the average person.

(2) Assembly of the Document

Well run, conservative living trust companies agree that the drafting and assembly of trust documents requires skill and knowledge of the law greater than that usually possessed by the average citizen and should therefore, be performed by attorneys.

annual returns. The Committee's opinion prohibited the nonlawyer only from engaging in analysis, drafting and termination of the pension plan. <u>Pension Plan</u>, <u>supra</u>, appendix.

Accordingly, living trusts marketed and sold by many living trust companies are all drafted and reviewed by attorneys or at least, by persons working under the direct supervision of an attorney.

(3) Review with the Client

Living Trust Companies agree that an attorney, or one under an attorney's direct supervision, should review the collected information and trust documents for the client prior to execution of the trust. Reputable living trust companies make this their regular practice.

(4) Execution of the Trust Documents

Unlike drafting and review of the trust, execution of the trust document does not require skill beyond that possessed by the average person. Execution of a living trust and will involves signatures, dating, and some notarization and witnessing. The execution is very similar to the formalities required at a close of escrow which is routinely handled by nonlawyers.

(5) Funding of the Trust Document

Funding of the trust requires that the trustor's personal and real property be transferred into the trust. Typically, this simply involves a visit to each of the trustor's banks and other financial institutions whereat the trustor will change the account signature cards to reflect the account ownership by the trust. With regard to real property, new deeds must be drawn in accordance

with the trust and recorded at the County where the land is located.²

In Advisory Opinion 89-5 the Committee held that a law firm may permit a paralegal or <u>other trained employee</u> to handle a real estate closing at which no lawyer in the firm is present if certain conditions are met. Citing <u>Cooserman v. West Coast Title Co.</u> 75 So.2d 818 (Fla. 1954), the Committee noted that real estate transactions **"are** usually nonadversarial" and allowing nonlawyers to participate "will reduce the cost to **clients."** The key is delegation by, but responsibility of, the attorney.

The Committee imposed the following conditions on nonlawyer real estate closings: 1) the attorney must supervise the work up to closing; 2) the attorney must determine that the client understands what is happening; 3) clients must consent in writing; 4) the supervising attorney must be available either in **person** or by telephone; and 5) the nonlawyer must not make impromptu decisions or give legal advice.

Based on <u>Cooperman</u>, <u>susra</u>, where an attorney drafts the trust documents and reviews them with the client, a trained nonlawyer trust representative should be permitted to assist the customer in executing and funding the trust. As in the case of real estate closings, the executing and funding of a trust is nonadversarial in

² Much of the evidence submitted to the Committee centered on the "Homestead Property" issue. It is apparently unclear as to whether homestead property should or should not, be held in a living trust. A clever trust writer, such as a Living Trust Company attorney, can easily craft trust language that would ultimately be construed by the Court in favor of the trustor's intent. "Me thinks the lady doth protest too much." Shakespeare.

nature and allowing nonlawyers to assist in the funding will reduce the cost to clients. In addition, funding of the trust does not require legal skill or knowledge beyond that of an average person.

C. THE FACTS DO NOT SUPPORT THE COMMITTEE'S UPINION

Central to the Court's inquiry in UPL cases is whether a specific public harm results from the specific non-lawyer activities at issue. <u>HRS Nonlawver Counselor, supra, Nonlawver Preparation of Notice to Owner and Notice to Contractor, supra, Nonlawver Preparation of Pension Plans, supra.</u>

The Court should also be convinced that a) the non-lawyer's practice of law is the cause of the alleged harm and b) that enjoining the practice is the most effective solution. HRS Nonlawver Counselor, supra.

Finally, in determining whether a regulation is in the public interest, the Court should balance the alleged public harm which exists in the absence of regulation against the harm the public suffers if regulation is implemented. <u>Conway-Bogue Realty</u> <u>Investment Co. v. Denver Bar Ass'n.</u> 312 P.2d 998,1007 (Colo. 1957).

In light of the foregoing, questions regarding the unlicensed practice of law must be determined according to the particular facts of each case, and considering (1) the alleged public harm, (2) whether the nonlawyer's practice is the cause of the alleged harm, (3) whether enjoining the practice is the most effective solution, and (4) whether or not regulation is in the public interest, taking into account the "ever changing business and social order."

Barlow F. Christensen discussed the threat of injury from unlicensed practitioners in his article <u>The Unauthorized Practice</u> <u>of Law: Do Good Fences Really Make Good Neighbors - or Even Good</u> <u>Sense</u>? 1980 Am.B, Found. Research J. 159 (1980). Christensen states:

"At the outset, it may be revealing to note that there is comparatively little in the history of unauthorized practice, either in the literature or in the cases, by way of hard evidence of substantial actual injury to the the public activities of unauthorized through practitioners. There is much talk about the danger of such injury. But with only occasional exceptions, the court cases do not involve injury to individuals. The vast majority of them have been brought by The Bar and have been instigated not as a result of injury to individuals but as a consequence of investigations by bar committees. As a result, the cases and other materials do not afford clear proof of public injury." Ibid, at 203

Substantial evidence of public harm is absent in many UPL cases. A nationwide survey of bar committees which handled matters related to nonlawyer lay divorces and real estate services revealed that "only two percent of some 1188 matters handled by bar committees in 1979 stemmed from complaints from disgruntled customers and fewer still involved claims of incompetence." Deborah L. Rhode, <u>Policing the Professional Monopoly: a</u> <u>Constitutional and Empirical Analysis of Unauthorized Practice Prohibition 34 Stan.L.Rev. 1 (1981) (hereinafter "Rhode").</u>

In the case at bar, the Committee's Opinion cites but three examples of public harm, which it alleges occurred as a result of

the nonlawyer sale of living **trusts**.³ In none of those examples, however, did the trust customer suffer damage. In each instance, the client either asked for and received a refund of his money or the error was discovered and corrected.

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