047 Wapp

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SID . WHITE 6300 DEC 13 1991
CLERK, SUPREME COURT.
By. Chief Decut 614

IN RE: THE FLORIDA BAR
ADVISORY OPINION -- NONLAWYER
PREPARATION OF LIVING TRUSTS

CASE NO. 78,358

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE STANDING COMMITTEE ON UNLICENSED PRACTICE OF LAW

Joseph R. Boyd, Chair
Standing Committee on UPL
Fla. Bar #179079
Lori S. Holcomb, Assistant
UPL Counsel
Fla. Bar #501018
The Florida Bar
650 Apalachee Parkway
Tallahassee, Florida
32399-2300
(904) 561-5600

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The testimony received by the Standing Committee, both at the hearings and through the written testimony, shows public harm and the potential for public harm due to nonlawyer preparation of living trusts. The testimony also shows the need for regulation in this area to protect the public. There can be no doubt that the process involved in the preparation and assembly of a living trust constitutes the practice of law. The public will therefore be protected by a finding by this Court that the preparation of a living trust by a nonlawyer constitutes the unlicensed practice of law and by adoption of the proposed formal advisory opinion.

The record before this Court is more than sufficient to find public harm and to support a finding of unlicensed practice of law. The Standing Committee received testimony from representatives of living trust companies, representatives of customers of living trust companies, a consumer group and attorneys who practice in this area. Specific instances and examples of harm were given as were examples of potential harm had the mistake not been discovered and corrected by an attorney. The harm in this area is still occurring and being discovered. The need for regulation, a need expressed by almost all who testified, can be met by adoption of the opinion or direction by this Court.

The Constitution of the United States does not stand **as** a roadblock to the adoption of the proposed advisory opinion.

Adoption of the proposed advisory opinion would not violate an

individual's right to contract, First Amendment rights or the Commerce Clause.

ARGUMENT

I. ADOPTI N OF THE PR POSED ADVIS RY OPINION IS IN THE PUBLIC INTEREST.

Many of the parties cite this Court's order in The Florida
Bar re: Advisory Opinion -- Nonlawyer Preparation of Pension
Plans, 571 \$0.2d 430 (Fla. 1990) and urge the Court to focus on the need for protection and regulation. The Standing Committee also urges this Court to do the same. By focusing on the need for protection and regulation it is clear that adoption of the proposed advisory opinion is in the public interest.

A. Nonlawyer Preparation Of A Living Trust Constitutes The Unlicensed Practice Of Law.

The only parties which attempted to dispute the committee's finding that the activities of nonlawyers as described in the proposed advisory opinion constitute the unlicensed practice of law are those that are currently in the business of selling and drafting living trusts (hereinafter "living trust companies''). Even those parties agree that the trust must be drafted by an attorney. Initial brief of LTA, p. 9; Initial brief of FLT, pp. 10-11. There is some disagreement as to the other steps involved in the process. However, the arguments advanced by the living trust companies do not provide any basis for this Court to find that the activities described in the proposed advisory opinion are not the unlicensed practice of law.

Before discussing the specific steps in the process, the Standing Committee wishes to point out that at least one other court was faced with the same issues currently before this Court although in a different context.

The Supreme Court of Colorado has on several occasions faced the issue of an attorney's involvement with a living trust company in the context of a disciplinary proceeding. The moat recent case involved a disciplinary action brought against attorney Volk for her participation in a scheme identical to those considered by the Standing Committee and before this Court. People v. Volk, 805 P.2d 1116 (Colo. 1991). Volk was hired by a living trust company to review living trusts which were drafted by a suspended attorney. The living trust company used salesmen to sell the trusts door-to-door and at senior citizen centers. The completed application was brought to the home office where the trust was prepared. Attorney Volk then reviewed the trust in light of the application and sent a form letter to the customer with the trust, quit claim deeds and instructions on implementation. Volk received \$50.00 per trust from the living trust company.

The living trust company for whom Volk worked had been investigated previously by the **Colorado** Unauthorized Practice of Law Committee. In fact, the attorney who was drafting the trusts

 $^{^1 \, \}text{For}$ the convenience of the Court, a copy of the Colorado cases are attached hereto in Appendix "A."

was suspended because of his involvement with the company. <u>People v. Macy</u>, 789 P.2d 188 (Colo. 1990). The UPL Committee found that the creation, counseling and sale of living trusts by nonlawyers constituted the unauthorized practice of law. Volk did not dispute this point. As Volk, like Macy, had aided in the unauthorized practice of law by reviewing the trusts, she was disciplined by the Supreme Court of Colorado.

The <u>Volk</u> case was based on a 1952 case involving charges of unlicensed practice of law against a nonlawyer. <u>People v. Schmitt</u>, 251 P.2d 915 (Colo. 1952). There, the Supreme Court of Colorado agreed with the referee that the nonlawyer was engaged in the unlicensed practice of law by giving legal advice regarding the advisability of having a living trust and providing a trust to his customers. A similar finding is warranted by the record before this Court.

1. Gathering the information.

The first area of disagreement is in the gathering of information. While taking factual information in and of itself may not constitute the practice of law, the taking of the information in this case cannot be viewed in a vacuum. The information is not merely taken by the nonlawyer, it is then used to determine what type of trust the individual should have and to draft the trust. If the proper information is not taken, a practice which is borne out by the testimony, a proper document is not prepared. Tab 5;

Jan. Tr, pp. 34-40. Seeming to recognize the potential for harm if the correct information is not taken or transmitted, the LTA brief states that "when dealing with reputable living trust companies" the information taken by the nonlawyer is reviewed by a local attorney who contacts the client. The testimony of LTA itself shows that this is not the case. At the January public hearing a representative of LTA testified that although the customer is told to seek the services of independent counsel, he receives a completed trust package, and therefore, is not required to do so. Jan. Tr, pp. 11-12, 24-25. Certainly when the information gathered is applied to an individual's specific legal situation and problem, the conduct becomes the practice of law. The Florida Bar v.

Raymond James & Assoc., Inc., 215 So.2d 613 (Fla. 1968) (Applying facts to a specific legal situation constitutes the practice of law.)

As to the concerns of FALU, the Standing Committee is unclear as to how the gathering of information necessary to prepare a living trust falls within the scope of a life insurance agent's license. As pointed out by FALU, living trusts are not an insurance product, and therefore, the sale of a living trust is not regulated. Initial brief of FALU, p. 5. As the underwriters may not legally sell a living trust, it is not clear why life insurance agents would be involved in gathering the information necessary to complete a living trust. One concern of the committee, and presumably FALU, is that life insurance agents and other insurance agents are using their license to get their foot in the door and

sell a living trust. Tab 5. Although the use of a license in such a manner would appear to be unethical, the activity is beyond the regulation of the Department of Insurance as the agent is not selling an insurance product. It is this type of conduct that the committee hopes to avoid and/or regulate by this Court's adoption of the proposed advisory opinion.

2. Assembly of the document and review with the client.

Although the living trust companies agree that an attorney should draft and assemble the trust documents and review them with the client, there is some disagreement as to the role of the attorney. LTA argues that the document should be assembled and reviewed by an attorney or someone working under the attorney's supervision while FLT advocates a two tiered system with an attorney for the company and an independent attorney. Initial brief of LTA, pp. 9-10; Initial brief of FLT, pp. 11-12. The Standing Committee has concerns with each position.

As to the position of LTA, it is the concern of the committee that the attorney under whom the nonlawyer is working is an attorney for the living trust company rather than the attorney for the customer/client. Although raising many ethical concerns, the conduct would also be the unlicensed practice of law as the nonlawyer corporation is providing the legal services and dictating the activity of the attorney. The Florida Bar v. Consolidated Business and Legal Forms, Inc., 386 So.2d 797 (Fla. 1980). If LTA

is speaking only in terms of a lay employee of a law office independently hired by the customer, the same concerns would not come into play. 2

The proposal of FLT raises the same problems. If there is a corporate attorney who is providing the legal services for a customer of the corporation, the corporation is involved in the unlicensed practice of law. The Florida Bar v. Consolidated

Business and Legal Forms, Inc., 386 So.2d 797 (Fla. 1980). The corporate attorney's client is the corporation, The corporation is not the party who is using the trust, and therefore, the attorney is providing legal services to a third party through the corporation. The situation is therefore similar to that in Consolidated Business and Legal Forms, supra and constitutes the unlicensed practice of law. See also People v. Volk, 805 P.2d 1116 (Colo. 1991); People v. Macy, 789 P.2d 188 (Colo. 1990).

Finally, as recognized by FLT, using any attorney is not sufficient. Initial brief of FLT, pp. 10-11. The attorney must be licensed and in good standing with The Florida Bar.

²LTA argues that "reputable living trust companies" make attorney review their regular practice. The testimony of LTA's representative does not bear this out. Attorney review of an LTA document is optional and up to the customer. Jan. Tr, pp. 24-25.

3. The proper execution of the documents.

The living trust companies argue that execution of the trust documents does not require legal skill. Although the Standing Committee agrees that it is a ministerial act, in somewhat goes hand-in-hand with attorney review of the document. The proposed advisory opinion does not require an attorney's participation in this step but recommends an attorney's supervision. This can easily occur during the review stage with the attorney explaining what needs to be signed and how. Since the attorney will also have some contact with the trust after it comes into existence, the attorney can check the document to make sure that all signatures are in place. As pointed out by FLT, this process also insures attorney review as to the competency of the parties. Initial brief of FLT, p. 15. Therefore, although it does not require legal skill to sign your name to a piece of paper, legal supervision is an additional safeguard for the consumer.

4. Funding of the trust.

One point made throughout the FLT brief is that the decisions in this area are that of the client. The client decides whether ${\bf a}$ trust is needed, the client executes the documents and the client funds the trust. While the Standing Committee does not dispute this point, in most cases the client is operating upon the advice of someone. It is the position of the Standing Committee that in

all areas, including funding, advice and services which are legal in nature must be provided by a member of The Florida Bar.

At the outset the Standing Committee wishes to stress that the opinion does not foreclose nonlawyer participation in the funding of the trust. Many of the decisions of what assets to use to fund the trust are financial. Consequently, the Standing Committee has no objection to a life insurance agent selling life insurance which may be used to fund the trust. Certainly this is within the activities licensed and regulated by the Department of Insurance. Nor does the committee object to a life insurance agent or other nonlawyer advising that a certain product should go into a trust from a financial standpoint or, as evidenced by the stipulations filed with this Court, to a CPA or bank trust officer providing funding information and advice on funding from a financial standpoint. The opinion of the committee does not stand for the proposition that financial advice cannot be rendered by a financial expert. However, legal advice must be rendered by someone licensed to provide legal advice and services.

The Standing Committee will not reiterate the arguments made by the Trust Law Section in response to the brief of LTA. As stated earlier, the committee adopts the brief of the Section. Nevertheless, the committee does wish to distinguish the Ethics Opinion and case law cited by LTA.

LTA cites Professional Ethics Opinion 89-5 as an opinion issued by the Standing Committee. The opinion was issued by the Professional Ethics Committee of The Florida Bar and involves the

conduct of a Florida attorney. It finds that it would not be unethical for an attorney to allow a salaried nonlawyer employee to oversee a real estate closing in the attorney's office if certain conditions are met. The conditions include full disclosure to the client that a lay employee will be handling the closing and the client's consent, attorney supervision and review of all work up to closing, a determination by the attorney that the closing is only a ministerial act, availability of the attorney to answer any questions and a guarantee that the lay employee will not give legal advice.

Certainly the activity described in 89-5 is distinguishable from the activity proposed and conducted by the living trust companies -- funding of a living trust by a nonlawyer who has no relationship to an attorney or a law office. There is no disclosure and consent, no attorney supervision and no attorney available. The act is not ministerial as decisions as to what to put into the trust must be made. Ap. Tr, p. 50. The making of these decisions involve the giving of legal advice. Id.

Moreover, not all of the assets which fund the trust involve real estate. As pointed out by FALU, life insurance is often used to fund a trust. Initial brief of FALU, pp. 3-4.

The arguments of FLT are similarly without merit. FLT argues that the funding is not even necessary for the trust to be in existence and than relates an incident, allegedly set forth in the testimony, of a trust which was left unfunded by an attorney. While it is true that a trust can exist without being funded, it is

a useless document that will not meet any of the expectations of the customer. It is much the same as having a car without an engine. It is still a car but it will not run. As to the trust which was left unfunded by the attorney, FLT did not provide a cite to this particular testimony. Assuming that it is true, the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar provide for some recourse against the attorney while no such recourse exists as to the nonattorney.

While the parties have failed to support their statement that the funding of a trust does not constitute the unlicensed practice of law, the opinion of the Standing Committee sets forth case law and testimony as to why a lawyer's participation is necessary in this area. Proposed Advisory Opinion pp. 20-23. 3 Again, the committee wishes to stress that this area is not exclusively that of the lawyer as many financial decisions are involved. However, the attorney may not be shut out of the process entirely. The client is best served when the attorney and nonattorney work together.

On page 22 of the proposed advisory opinion the Standing Committee quotes written testimony regarding the use of a quit claim deed to make a conveyance into the trust. The undersigned has received comments from a few attorneys regarding this quote. Apparently, some attorneys disagree with the statement made by the witness. The Standing Committee informed the individuals, and wishes to stress to this Court, that the quote was included as an example of public harm, not as a statement of the law, That there has been some disagreement and confusion shows the need for an attorney's participation in the funding process.

B. The Record Contains Adequate Evidence Of Public Harm Upon Which To Base An Opinion.

Most of the parties do not dispute the existence of public harm and the potential for public harm in this area although some argue that the evidence contained in the record is anecdotal **and** insufficient. Contrary to these assertions, the testimony shows that the harm is real and the need for regulation immediate.

1. The record below.

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